
NORTHBRIDGE PLANNING BOARD 
MINUTES 

Tuesday, June 18, 2013 

 
Brett Simas, Chair called the meeting to order at 7:00 PM; Barbara Gaudette, Janet Dolber and George 
Murray were in attendance.  R. Gary Bechtholdt II, Town Planner was also present.  Edward Palmer and 
Cindy Key, associate member were absent. 
 
The following members of the public were in attendance:   Mark Anderson (Heritage Design Group), Jeff 
Howland (JH Engineering Group), Vincent Osterman, Shane Oates (Coneco Engineering), Byron Andrews 
(Andrews  Survey),  Frank  Marinella,  Mickey  &  Paula  Mimichello,  Michael  &  Laura  Joyce,  Katherine 
Manyak, & Joan Jeffers.  
 
I.  CITIZEN FORUM  
 
None  
 
II.  FORM A’S 
 
241 LINWOOD AVENUE 
Form A –ANR Plan Review/Decision 
 
Byron Andrews of Andrews Survey & Engineering  reviewed with  the Planning Board on behalf of  the 
owner and applicant proposed ANR  conveyance plan –from Pine Grove Cemetery  to Christian School 
Association –Parcel A (±12.6 acres).  Mr. Andrews reviewed with the Board revisions made to the plan; 
addressing comments noted  in  the ANR Checklist. Mr. Bechtholdt  indicated  that the Planning office  is 
still  awaiting  receipt  of  an  authorization  letter  from  the  owner  (Pine  Grove  Cemetery  Association), 
noting the applicant (Henry Lane) signed the application not Pine Grove Cemetery. Reference made to 
ANR Checklist comment A4 –written consent not provided.   Mr. Bechtholdt suggested the Board could 
table  its review until receipt of the necessary documentation or they could act on the ANR application 
and withhold releasing the plan until receipt of the consent letter. 
 
Mr. Murray,  in  reference  to ANR Checklist B8  asked  if  the property  included  any  variance or  special 
permits  from  the Zoning Board of Appeals.   Mr. Andrews  indicated no, briefly  reviewing on  the plan 
location of existing trails and Worcester County Electric Co. easement.  
 
Upon motion duly made  (Murray) and seconded  (Dolber) the Planning Board voted  (3‐1  [Gaudette]) to 
GRANT an ANR endorsement  for 241 Linwood Avenue.    In  taking such action  the Planning Board shall 
hold the ANR plan until receipt of the necessary owner consent letter.  
 
III.  OSTERMAN COMMERCE PARK ‐PUBLIC HEARING 
  Special Permit ‐Planned Business Development 
  Site Plan Review ‐Phase 1 

 
Mr. Simas looked to open the Public Hearing; Mr. Bechtholdt noted that Edward Palmer (Planning Board 
member) and Cindy Key (Associate member) were both absent and reminded the Board and Applicant 



NORTHBRIDGE PLANNING BOARD  

                                                            Minutes –June 18, 2013 
 

Page 2 of 8 

that the special permit requires a two‐thirds majority vote, if the Board opened the hearing and received 
testimony tonight both Mr. Palmer and Ms. Key would not be able to participate.  Mr. Bechtholdt noted 
the town has not adopted the Mullin Rule.  Mark Anderson (Heritage Design Group) discussed with the 
applicant, Vincent Osterman to determine if the Board should postpone the hearing or open the hearing 
for consideration.   Mr. Osterman agreed to have the Planning Board open the public hearing with the 
understanding  that only  the  four  (4) members present  (Simas, Dobler, Gaudette, & Murray) would be 
able to vote on the application(s). 
 
Ms.  Gaudette  read  the  public  hearing  notice:    In  accordance with  the  provisions  of Massachusetts 
General Laws & the Town of Northbridge Zoning Bylaws Chapter 173, the Northbridge Planning Board 
will hold a public hearing on Tuesday,  June 18, 2013 at 7:05 PM  in  the Selectmen’s Chambers of  the 
Northbridge Town Hall, 7 Main  Street Whitinsville, MA  to  consider  (1.)  Special Permit application  for 
Planned Business Development [§173‐47 B (2)] & (2.) Site Plan Review (Phase I) from V.E. Properties IX, 
LLC  (Whitinsville, MA)  for project to be known as “Osterman Commerce Park”.     The subject property 
(Assessor Map 28 Parcels 6, 7, 72, 73 & 74), within the Industrial‐One zone is located off Church Street 
Extension and consists of ±92.2 acres.   The Planned Business Development proposal  includes ±4600 LF 
roadway (private drive); ±206,500 SF of mixed‐use building space; ±26.4 acres of dedicated open space; 
and other associated site improvements.  The Site Plan Review (Phase 1) includes ±1540 LF of roadway 
(private drive), two buildings; a 24,000 SF Medical office building & a 12,000 SF Office building, with 209 
parking  spaces,  and  other  associated  site  improvements.    Copies  of  the  application(s),  Stormwater 
Report, Site Development Plan entitled “Osterman Commerce Park” prepared by Heritage Design Group 
dated May 17, 2013 on file with the Office of the Town Clerk (7 Main Street) and Planning office (14 Hill 
Street) Whitinsville, MA and may be reviewed during normal office hours.  The purpose of the hearing is 
to provide an opportunity for public comment.  Anyone wishing to be heard should attend said hearing 
at the time and place designated.   
 
The  Planning  Board  opened  the  public  hearing;  Mr.  Bechtholdt  indicated  that  the  notification 
requirements had been satisfied.  
 
Mr. Anderson on behalf of the applicant, Vincent Osterman (V.E. Properties IX, LLC) reviewed the overall 
project and the locus of the subject property.  Mr. Anderson noted application includes a special permit 
for a Planned Business Development and site plan review for Phase I, which includes two buildings; the 
first building  is for Milford Regional Medical Center (Granite Street facility will be relocated), tenant(s) 
for  the  second building  is unknown at  this  time.   Mr. Anderson explained hours of operation  for  the 
medical office building would be 8:30AM to 7:00PM and should not negatively affect the traffic peaks 
for Church Street Extension locus area.   Mr. Anderson stated there would be no real peak impact with 
traffic for Phase I. 
 
Mr. Anderson explained prior to formally submitting application to the town they submitted application 
to the state for an environmental review, a process that has taken approximately 18‐months.  As part of 
their permits (State) 26‐acres of  land will be donated to the Department of Conservation & Recreation 
(land abutting DCR land, Blackstone River Canal and towpath. 
 
Mr.  Anderson  provided  the  Board  with  a  plan  detail  showing  the  proposed  signage  for  Osterman 
Commerce Park prepared by Sunshine Sign of North Grafton, MA dated June 17, 2013.  



NORTHBRIDGE PLANNING BOARD  

                                                            Minutes –June 18, 2013 
 

Page 3 of 8 

Mr. Anderson  reviewed proximity of  residential neighborhoods and Providence & Worcester Railroad 
and then presented the building elevation plan for the medical office, briefly noting landscaping features 
and  LED  streetlights  proposed.   Mr.  Anderson  continued  noting  the  Planned  Business  Development 
would  remain private,  although  the  road would be built  to  town  standards with  granite  curbing  and 
sidewalks. 
 
Mr.  Murray  inquired  about  the  potential  traffic.  Mr.  Anderson  noted  two  (2)  traffic  studies  were 
performed in conjunction with MassDOT review of the project development; copies of which have been 
included in the file.  Planning Board briefly noted traffic study area (locations –Plummers Corner, Church 
Street Extension  and Quaker  Street  intersection.   Mr. Murray  asked  about  the distance between  the 
existing driveway for Osterman Propane and the proposed private road for Osterman Commerce Park, 
requesting a plan showing both locations should be provided.  
 
Mr. Murray asked about signage for the project development; Mr. Anderson provided an elevation plan 
and detail of the proposed signage to be  located off Church Street Extension.   Mr. Murray asked what 
type of street trees would be planted; Mr. Anderson suggested a mix of locus and maple trees. 
 
Mr. Murray asked if there were any special rules or additional regulations that needed to be followed as 
a result of proposed activity  is along an active railroad; Mr. Anderson explained to the Board that they 
have contacted the P&W railroad regarding the development proposal and no additional requirements 
would be required. 
 
Mr. Murray asked if the Fire Department has provided any input; Mr. Anderson noted the Town Planner 
hosted  a  Technical  Review meeting  in which  the  Fire  Chief  attended,  suggesting  the  Fire  Chief  has 
approved  the hydrant  locations and also noted  the buildings will have  sprinklers.   Mr. Anderson also 
explained that a new 12‐inch waterline has been extended to the property to service the PBD and the 
Osterman Propane facility. 
 
Mr. Murray inquired about roof drainage and if they plan to infiltrate, citing the plan currently does not 
clearly demonstrate this.  
 
Mr. Murray  asked  about  the  difference  in  elevation  of  the  proposed  private  drive  and  the  existing 
railroad; Mr. Anderson approximated the rail is about 10‐feet lower than the road.  Board members and 
residents  in the audience expressed a desire for fencing; Mr. Osterman shared concerns and agreed to 
install a  fence.   Mr. Anderson  indicted  there  is a 10‐20  foot  separation between  the  railroad and  the 
proposed private drive. 
 
Ms.  Gaudette  and  Ms.  Dobler  reserved  comments  for  now.    Mr.  Simas  solicited  comments  from 
residents in attendance. 
 
Mickey Mimichello (50 Plummer Park) expressed concerns regarding lighting and traffic; Ms. Manyak of 
(54 Plummer Park) expressed similar concerns of lighting and noise.  Mr. Simas asked about the type of 
lighting proposed.  Mr. Anderson explained they would like to install pedestrian‐scale lighting along the 
roadway similar to what the town installed along Church Street (downtown).  Mr. Osterman expressed a 
willingness to work with the neighbors on lighting concerns. 



NORTHBRIDGE PLANNING BOARD  

                                                            Minutes –June 18, 2013 
 

Page 4 of 8 

 
Mr.  Mimichello  asked  about  the  proposed  fence  (6  to  8‐foot  chain‐link  with  privacy  slats).    Ms. 
Mimichello noted she enjoys her peace and quiet and was disturbed by the working being conducted on 
Sunday; Mr. Osterman noted he was unaware and assured  the neighbors  that he would address  this 
concern.  Ms. Mimichello asked what other uses would be occupying the other buildings; Mr. Osterman 
indicated that he did not know other than the medical office building.  Planning Board members noted 
permitted uses are defined in the town’s Zoning Bylaws.   
 
Ms.  Mimichello  expressed  concerns  of  what  uses  would  be  allowed  in  the  Industrial  zone  and 
questioned  the  results  of  the  traffic  study;  citing  her  concerns  of  existing  traffic  on  Church  Street 
Extension.  Mr. Anderson explained as part of the State’s review they have agreed to perform follow‐up 
traffic  studies  for a period of 5‐years once Phase  I  is built‐out  to monitor  traffic and  to determine  if 
additional traffic mitigation is warranted.  
 
Mr.  Bechtholdt  explained  that  the  Planning  Board  is  reviewing  the  Planned  Business  Development 
special permit application and the site plan for Phase I of the development; before anything is permitted 
in the other phases a site plan review similar to this (including traffic studies) will need to be reviewed 
by the Planning Board.  
 
Mr.  Simas  identified  traffic  as  a  significant  topic  of  consideration  for  a  project  such  as  this;  stating 
obviously  there will be  impacts,  the  traffic  study will  tell us what potential  impacts;  the 5‐year  study 
allows an occasion to revisit findings and possible future mitigation.  Ms. Simas announced that tonight’s 
public hearing  is  likely the first of several meetings and would  like to  identify specific topics for future 
agendas.  Mr. Simas welcomed residents to view the traffic studies filed with the Planning Board for this 
project.  
 
Ms.  Jeffers  (46  Plummer  Park)  asked when  the  traffic  studies were  conducted  (month/time  of  day), 
recalling she does not remember seeing any traffic counters on Church Street Extension.  Mr. Bechtholdt 
noted the traffic study on file should detail when the counts were taken.  Mr. Anderson mentioned two 
separate traffic counts were conducted (1) electronic‐tubes across the roadway and (2) manual counts 
at Plummers Corner and Quaker Street  intersection where performed about one‐year ago.   Ms. Jeffers 
expressed  existing  concerns with  traffic on Church  Street  Extension  and  the  amount of delay  exiting 
Plummer  Park.    Mr.  Anderson  explained  that  another  firm  conducted  the  traffic  studies  (Pare 
Corporation).   Mr. Osterman suggested overall traffic patterns will  likely be adjusted as a result of the 
planned relocation of the Milford Regional facility from Church Street to Osterman Commerce Park.  
 
Ms. Joyce questioned if a rail spur was possible?  Mr. Osterman explained due to the limited remaining 
square‐footage  (build‐out)  for Phase 2‐4  the  cost  to  create a  spur would not be practical,  suggesting 
back in 1985 an spur was considered at a cost of $1 million‐plus and would not be economical now.   Mr. 
Anderson added, about 10‐years ago a company in Worcester look at the possibility however due to the 
size of the property (minus wetlands, etc) had a limited scope. Mr. Simas noted installation of a rail spur 
is possible however may be not optimal due to cost. 
 



NORTHBRIDGE PLANNING BOARD  

                                                            Minutes –June 18, 2013 
 

Page 5 of 8 

Ms.  Jeffers expressed concerns with existing creek behind house which runs under the railroad to the 
subject property; Mr. Anderson  indicated that they may  look to  increase the drain culvert after talking 
with the P&W Rail.  
 
Mr. Joyce stated concerns of noise from passing trains and expressed concerns of additional noise due 
to reflective sound from the buildings proposed and loss of trees (buffer).  Ms. Simas agreed; hopefully 
due to the angle of the buildings  (proposed) and the planting of trees reverberation will not  increase. 
Mr. Anderson provided a brief overview of the landscaping, screening and buffer (10 to 15‐foot width of 
trees). Mr. Mimichello asked about the number of trees and spacing; Mr. Anderson suggested depends 
on the species may be 10‐feet apart.  Mr. Anderson offered to add some additional white pines to help 
address concerns.  
 
Ms. Manyak  questioned  –how  does  one  go  back  to  address  unidentified  traffic  concerns; Mr.  Simas 
suggested may  need  to mitigate  impacts, monitor  traffic;  if  there  is  a  traffic  problem will  need  to 
implement a solution.  Mr. Anderson noted they may be able to alter Plummers Corner –not physically 
but electronically by  installing a Dynamic Green traffic signal system, where depending on the AM/PM 
peak the traffic light can be adjusted to coincide with the peak traffic flows.  
 
Mr. Mimichello shared concerns on traffic and suggested Quaker Street  intersection should be fixed as 
well. Mr.  Simas noted  the objective of  the  traffic  study  is  to help determine  impacts.   Mr. Anderson 
offered  to bring  the  traffic engineer  (Pare Corporation)  to  the next Planning Board public hearing  to 
review the traffic study. 
 
Upon motion duly made (Murray) and seconded (Dobler) the Planning Board voted (4‐0) to continue the 
public hearing to Tuesday, July 09, 2013 at 7:40PM. 
        
IV.  CARPENTER ESTATES  ‐PUBLIC MEETING 
  Low Impact Development (Modification)  
  
Shane Oates,  PE  of  Coneco  Engineering  and  Stan  Piecewicz,  Applicant  (C&S  Realty  Trust)  presented 
modified  plans  proposing  Low  Impact Development  (LID)  techniques within  the  approved  Carpenter 
Estates subdivision.  Mr. Oates explained to the Board prior to preparing the LID plans they performed a 
series  of  soil  tests  to  determine  if  the  site  is  appropriate  for  recharge  necessary  to  incorporate  LID 
measures.   
 
Mr.  Oates  also  noted  they  reworked  the  geometry  of  the  roadway,  grade  at  the  entrance,  grass 
channels, culverts, rain gardens, etc.  The modified plan was engineered to handle 100‐year storm.  Mr. 
Oates briefly reviewed process of the proposed LID stormwater collection and recharge, noting the large 
detention pond has been eliminated.  In addition to the LID for the subdivision roadway each house will 
have a series of Cultec Chambers and rain gardens.  Mr. Murray asked about Winter/Spring freeze/thaw 
cycles; Mr. Oates suggested the chambers will be deep enough to avoid frost line.   
 
Mr. Simas inquired about long‐term maintenance costs; Mr. Oates indicated the developer is looking to 
create an HOA; property owners would help offset any additional maintenance responsibilities, if any as 
these types of systems only require seasonal maintenance.  Mr. Oates added and O&M plan (operation 



NORTHBRIDGE PLANNING BOARD  

                                                            Minutes –June 18, 2013 
 

Page 6 of 8 

and maintenance plan) could be  included for each  lot provided with the sale of the house.   Mr. Simas 
asked about the proximity of the homes to the grass channels along the roadways; Mr. Oates indicated 
they would  likely be setback however  it depending on each  individual  lot, noting some will need to be 
reviewed  by  the  Conservation  Commission.    Mr.  Simas  expressed  concerns  whether  or  not  the 
homeowners would assume  the  responsibilities of maintenance.   Mr. Murray asked  if  there were any 
local LID examples that the town may be able to look at. 
 
Mr. Oates reviewed with the Planning Board his  letter dated June 04, 2013, noting two (2) waivers are 
being requested as part of this LID modification; sidewalk and granite curbing.  Sidewalk will be provided 
at the entrance and over the crossing with parking spaces added for school bus pick‐up/drop‐off.   Ms. 
Dolber  noted  that  there  is  no  sidewalk  on  Carpenter  Road.   Mr. Murray  expressed  concerns  of  not 
having sidewalks; Mr. Simas shared concerns noting  initial conversations had  included sidewalks.   Mr. 
Bechtholdt suggested as per the town’s regulations sidewalks for minor streets (cul‐de‐sacs) may not be 
required.  
 
Mr. Oates also explained  the developer does not  like  the  idea of  common driveways;  the O&M plan 
would  address  the  maintenance  responsibilities  of  the  culverts.    Mr.  Murray  noted  receipt  of  JH 
Engineering Group report dated June 11, 2013.  
 
Mr. Oates  indicated  they are also meeting with  the Conservation Commission regarding  the proposed 
LID modification. Mr. Simas expressed concerns  if the LID stormwater system  is not maintained  in 10, 
15,  30‐years. Mr.  Simas  also  expressed  concerns  of  DPW’s  continued  efforts  to  defer maintenance 
responsibilities within accepted subdivision roadways. 
 
Mr.  Bechtholdt  reminded  Mr.  Oates  that  he  needs  to  provide  written  comments  in  response  to 
Community  Planning &  Development  letter  dated  June  12,  2013  and  the  town’s  Best  Development 
Practices Guidebook. 
 
Jeff Howland  (JH  Engineering Group  –Planning  Board  consultant)  explained  the  State  is  pushing  the 
concept of Low Impact Development (LID) as preferred recharge over pipe to pond –Best Management 
Practices  (BMPs).   Mr. Howland  then  provided  an  overview  of  the NPDES  Stormwater  Program  and 
Northbridge as a MS4 and what maintenance, mapping; testing etc. may be necessary as required by the 
Federal government (EPA) etc.  
 
Mr. Oates suggested they may be able to incorporate a sidewalk but asked if the Board would be willing 
to  reduce  the  pavement  width  of  the  roadway  from  24‐feet  to  22.    Board members  expressed  a 
willingness  to  reduce pavement width based upon  the subdivision  roadway being considered a minor 
roadway (cul‐de‐sac) for only 18‐house lots.  
 
Given the need for additional time to review and receive comments from other departments the Board 
and the Applicant agreed to continue the modification discussion  (public meeting) to Tuesday,  July 23, 
2013 at 7:05 PM. 
 
 
 



NORTHBRIDGE PLANNING BOARD  

                                                            Minutes –June 18, 2013 
 

Page 7 of 8 

OLD/NEW BUSINESS 
 
Approval of Meeting Minutes –June 11, 2013 
Upon motion duly made (Murray) and seconded (Dolber) the Planning Board voted (5‐0) to ACCEPT the 
meeting  minutes  as  amended  for  June  11,  2013.  –correction  /Citizens  Forum  “Mr.  Murray  recued 
himself, noting that he had work with the developer, J&F Marinella Dev. and as such did not participate 
in the discussion”.  
 
Camelot Subdivision –Site Walk Observations 
Due to the weather (thunderstorm) the Planning Board canceled is site walk of Monday, June 17 2013, 
and shall look to reschedule at a future meeting. 
 
Pine Knoll –Affordable Units  
Mr. Murray recued himself, noting that he  lives  in the Pine Knoll development and had work with the 
developer, J&F Marinella Dev. and as such did not participate in the discussion.  Mr. Murray adjourned 
from  the  table and  left  the meeting  room during  the discussion.   Frank Marinella  (J&F Marinella Dev) 
met with the Planning Board to consider eliminating the affordable units suggesting the Board allow the 
3 affordable units  to be sold at market  rate,  in doing so he would provide  the  town with a monetary 
amount of  funds equal  to  the difference of  the market  rate & affordable  (approximately $25,000  for 
each unit).  Mr. Marinella explained the remaining units to be sold are the 3 designated affordable units 
and would  like  to  complete  project  (sell  units).   Mr. Marinella  indicated  that  they  are  prepared  to 
advertize and start the necessary process to sell the affordable units (as he stated may be 1 to 2‐year 
process  to qualify potential buyers  (55 and over and  income qualified).   Mr.  Simas  indicated  that he 
would like to get a copy of the town’s subsidized housing inventory (SHI) to see where Northbridge is at 
with  its  affordable  housing  stock  (10%).    Mr.  Bechtholdt  indicated  that  he  would  provide  this 
information to the Board, noting prior to the Linwood Mill affordable units going online the town’s SHI 
was  about  7.1%.   Mr.  Bechtholdt  also mentioned  that  he  is  still  awaiting  input  from  the  Building 
Inspector/Zoning  Enforcement  Officer  to  see  if  the  Planning  Board  is  authorized  to  consider  such 
request.  Planning Board agreed to table this matter to its next meeting scheduled for July 09, 2013.  
 
Mail –Review  
In  addition  to  the  mail  listed  (see  attached)  the  Planning  Board  noted  receipt  of  the  following 
communications:    Public  Hearing  Notice  for  the  Special  Permit  application  for  Planned  Business 
Development  and  Site  Plan  Review  (Phase  I)  from  VE  Properties  IX,  LLC  for  the  project  known  as 
Osterman  Commerce  Park; Memo  dated May  24,  2013/June  10,  2013  to  the  Planning  Board, Mark 
Anderson  and Eric Bazzett of Heritage Design Group  from Gary Bechtholdt  concerning  the Osterman 
Commerce Park Special Permit and Site Plan Review; Planning Board Site Plan Review Checklist dated 
5/24/13  for Osterman Commerce Park  (Phase  I); Memo dated  June 10, 2013  to Planning Board  from 
Gary  Bechtholdt  concerning  Osterman  Commerce  Park  –  Planned  Business  Development  Technical 
Review Meeting; Email dated June 13, 2013 to  James Shuris, Rand Swigor, Jim Sheehan & Brett Simas 
regarding Osterman Commerce Park – Technical Review Meeting Notes; Memo dated June 11, 2013 to 
James  Shuris  and  Robert  Van Meter  from  Gary  Bechtholdt  regarding  Carpenter  Estates  Subdivision 
Modification  –  Low  Impact Development;  Letter  dated  June  4,  2013  to  Planning Board  from Coneco 
Engineering  concerning  the Minor Modifications  to  Previously  Approved  Plan  of  Carpenter  Estates; 
Letter dated June 11, 2013 to Gary Bechtholdt from JH Engineering regarding Carpenter Estates Minor 



NORTHBRIDGE PLANNING BOARD  

                                                            Minutes –June 18, 2013 
 

Page 8 of 8 

Modifications to Previously Approved Plan Peer Review; Letter dated June 12, 2013 to Shane Oates from 
Gary Bechtholdt regarding Carpenter Estates Subdivision Modification – Low Impact Development; Copy 
of  Town  of Northbridge  Best Development  Practices Guidebook  Section  3  Stormwater Management; 
Memo dated June 10, 2013 to Jim Sheehan from Gary Bechtholdt concerning Pine Knoll, Copy of Article 
XVII Senior Living Bylaw; and copy of Planning Board meeting schedule. 
 
Other  
Mr. Bechtholdt and Mr. Simas made arrangements to meet with Joe Marinella  (J&F Marinella Dev) on 
Wednesday June 19 2013, to discuss the status of Marston Heights and review the concerns expressed 
by  the  residents.   Mr. Bechtholdt mentioned  that he  is  soliciting updated construction  schedules and 
status reports from the developers of Presidential Farms, Hillside Garden Estates, Camelot, Shining Rock, 
Hemlock Estates and others ‐which may be viewed at the next Planning Board meeting.  
 
Adjournment  
Having no additional business the Planning Board adjourned its meeting of Tuesday, June 18, 2013 at or 
about 9:25 PM. 
 
Respectfully submitted,                       

          Approved by Planning Board –       

 
 

R. Gary Bechtholdt II             
Town Planner 
  

Cc:   Town Clerk 


